Public Document Pack

LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE
DATE:

Tuesday 29 January 2019

TIME:

6.00 pm

VENUE:

Council Chamber, Council Offices,
Thorpe Road, Weeley, CO16 9AJ

MEMBERSHIP:

Councillor Stock OBE (Chairman)
Councillor Turner (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Bray
Councillor Broderick
Councillor Bush
Councillor Chapman
Councillor Ferguson
Councillor C Guglielmi

Councillor I Henderson
Councillor Land
Councillor Newton
Councillor Platt
Councillor Poonian
Councillor Porter
Councillor Skeels Jnr

Most Council meetings are open to the public and press.
Agendas and Minutes are published on the Council's website
www.tendringdc.gov.uk. Agendas are available to view five working days
prior to the meeting date and the Council aims to publish Minutes within
five working days of the meeting.
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, or
on disc, tape, or in other languages.
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting, contact
Katie Sullivan on 01255 686585.

DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY 18 JANUARY 2019
Chief Executive
Ian Davidson

www.tendringdc.gov.uk
Minicom: 01255 475566

AGENDA

IAN DAVIDSON, CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, ESSEX, CO15 1SE. TELEPHONE (01255) 686868

AGENDA
1

Apologies for Absence and Substitutions
The Committee is asked to note any apologies for absence and substitutions received
from Members.

2

Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 1 - 8)
To confirm and sign as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting of the Committee,
held on 30 October 2018.

3

Declarations of Interest
Councillors are invited to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Personal
Interest, and the nature of it, in relation to any item on the agenda.

4

Questions on Notice pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 37
Subject to providing two working days’ notice, a Member of the Committee may ask the
Chairman of the Committee a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has
powers or duties which affect the Tendring District and which falls within the terms of
reference of the Committee.

5

Public Speaking (Pages 9 - 12)
The Council’s Public Speaking Scheme for the Local Plan Committee gives the
opportunity for members of the public and other interested parties/stakeholders to speak
to the Council’s elected members on the Local Plan Committee on any specific agenda
item to be considered at that public meeting.

6

Report of the Corporate Director (Planning and Regeneration Services) - A.1 - Local
Development Scheme (Pages 13 - 34)
To seek the Local Plan Committee’s agreement to publish a new Local Development
Scheme (LDS) which includes a revised timetable for completing the examination of the
Local Plan, taking into account the Planning Inspector’s latest advice.

7

Report of the Corporate Director (Planning and Regeneration Services) - A.2 Planning Reform: Supporting the High Street and Increasing the Delivery of New
Homes Consultation Response (Pages 35 - 54)
To inform the Local Plan Committee of the implications of the Government’s new
Planning Reform paper.

Date of the Next Scheduled Meeting
The next scheduled meeting of the Local Plan Committee is to be held in the Council
Chamber, Council Offices, Thorpe Road, Weeley, CO16 9AJ at 6.00 pm on Monday 25
March 2019.

Information for Visitors
FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE
There is no alarm test scheduled for this meeting. In the event of an alarm sounding, please
calmly make your way out of any of the fire exits in the hall and follow the exit signs out of the
building.
Please heed the instructions given by any member of staff and they will assist you in leaving the
building and direct you to the assembly point.
Please do not re-enter the building until you are advised it is safe to do so by the relevant member
of staff.
Your calmness and assistance is greatly appreciated.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
Local Plan Committee

30 October 2018

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE,
HELD ON TUESDAY, 30TH OCTOBER, 2018 AT 6.00 PM
IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL OFFICES, THORPE ROAD, WEELEY,
CO16 9AJ
Present:

Councillors Stock OBE (Chairman), Turner (Vice-Chair), Bray, Bush,
Chapman, Davis, C Guglielmi, Land, Newton, Platt, Poonian and
Skeels Jnr

Also Present:

Councillors Everett, Nicholls, Scott, Stephenson and White

In Attendance:

Ewan Green (Corporate Director (Planning and Regeneration)),
Cath Bicknell (Head of Planning), Lisa Hastings (Head of
Governance and Legal Services), Gary Guiver (Planning Manager),
Ian Ford (Committee Services Manager) and Will Fuller (Planning
Officer)
Mary Foster (Senior Development Technician)

Also
in
Attendance:
1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Broderick, I J Henderson
and Porter (with Councillor Davis substituting).

2.

MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING
It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the last meeting of the Committee, held on 20
November 2017, be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

3.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Bush declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item A.2 of the Report of
the Head of Planning (Updated Housing Supply Positon and Housing Trajectory) insofar
as he owned land that was the subject of Planning Applications 15/00987/OUT and
18/01766/DISCON. The land that was subject to those planning applications was
referred to in Appendices 1 and 4 to that report.
Councillors Stock and G V Guglielmi each declared a personal interest in item A.1 of the
Report of the Head of Planning (Local Plan Examination – Inspector’s Findings and
Next Steps) insofar as they were, respective a Director and an alternate Director of the
NEGC Ltd Board.

4.

QUESTIONS ON NOTICE PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 37
There were none on this occasion.

5.

PUBLIC SPEAKING
The Chairman invited the following persons to address the Committee:

Page 1

Local Plan Committee

30 October 2018

Bill Marshall, a resident of the District, made a statement relating to item A.1 of the
Report of the Head of Planning in which he expressed his concern that the Garden
Communities Scheme had not recently been fully debated with local residents and that
there had been very little input from the Councils to the residents recently. He also
expressed his concern that the Council’s decision to pursue Option 2 (do more work to
fill in the gaps in the evidence now but delay the examination of Section 2 of the Local
Plan until the Inspector was satisfied that the Garden Communities were deliverable and
that Section 1 of the Plan was sound) had been taken by an executive decision rather
than by the Committee as a whole. He stated his belief that the letter submitted to the
Inspector on 19 October 2018 was late in the day and that Braintree, Colchester and
Tendring Councils could have been a lot further down the road in progress with the
Garden Communities if those Councils had collaborated together and produced one
joint Local Plan. He expressed his hope that there would not be too many problems with
the resubmitted Section 1 of the Local Plan but was further concerned that Section 2 of
Tendring’s Local Plan would be in disarray if Section 1 was not approved by the Inquiry
Inspector. This would then lead to speculative development all over the District. He
therefore felt that to pursue Option 2 was a gamble.
Carol Bannister, a resident of Weeley, made a statement relating to item A.2 of the
Report of the Head of Planning in which she raised her objections to the inclusion of the
words: “All issues raised in objections have been resolved” in the “Other Comments”
section relating to Site Code SAMU5 (‘Barleyfields’, land to the rear of the Council
Offices, Thorpe Road, Weeley – Barley Fields Phase 2) as detailed in Appendix 3 to the
report. She felt that this was inaccurate and that the residents’ objections were still
outstanding and valid pending the result of the Public Inquiry and that therefore those
words should be removed from the appendix.
Councillor Everett made a statement relating to items A.2 and A.3 of the Report of the
Head of Planning in which he expressed his concern that Planning Officers were, too
often, conceding the point of a ‘presumption in favour of development’ at Planning
Appeals in their evidence and ‘Statements of Common Ground’. They were conceding
this point when they did not in fact need to do so just because policies QL1 and EN2
were deemed to be ‘out of date’. However, the NPPF stated that just because a policy
was out of date it did not necessarily follow that a presumption in favour of development
would then apply. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF was quite clear in stating that there were
exceptions by using the word “unless” and that this Council was conceding the point
when it did not need to do so and giving in before the discussion had even been held
therefore making the Appellant’s case for them. Once this point had been conceded and
a speculative development won on appeal then this would become a material
consideration at all future planning appeals thereby letting in unwanted and unneeded
speculative development despite the Council have a five year supply of housing land.
He urged the Committee to take action now to stop this from happening in the future.
Asa Aldis, Parish Councillor for Wivenhoe, made a statement relating to item A.1 of the
Report of the Head of Planning in which he expressed his objections to the Garden
Communities Scheme as he felt that it would have a negative impact on the residents
Wivenhoe and north Essex and its transport infrastructure. He felt that the Local Plan
had ignored the objections of the residents of Wivenhoe as the scale of the proposed
Garden Community was too vast to be viable and would damage Wivenhoe. He urged
this Council to work with stakeholders to produce a more viable Local Plan by pursuing
alternative options. He stated that the Sustainability Appraisal for the Garden
Community was unworkable and that there would be funding shortfalls for the proposed

Page 2

Local Plan Committee

30 October 2018

infrastructure and that CPOs were unlikely to succeed. In addition, the Garden
Communities scheme was financially unviable.
Councillor Luxford-Vaughan, Colchester Borough Council, made a statement relating to
item A.1 of the Report of the Head of Planning in which she stated her belief that, in
pursuing Option 2, this Council was “rehashing” a failed plan with Members making
uninformed decisions. She urged Members to learn from their mistakes particularly with
regard to the Sustainability Appraisal which had been found to be ‘biased’ and predetermined’ by the Inspector. She stated that Members had a duty not to waste
taxpayers’ money in making only cosmetic changes to the Garden Communities
Scheme e.g. that alternative sites needed to be identified and that the proposals needed
to be at a lower scale. Otherwise it would not survive the further Examination-in-Public
as the new Sustainability Appraisal would be deemed to be inadequate.
Paul Griffith, a resident of Wivenhoe, made a statement relating to item A.1 of the
Report of the Head of Planning in which he advocated that the Garden Communities
Scheme be ‘dropped’ and the new housing allocated to the Scheme be distributed
equally over the settlements of the District of Tendring. He advocated the Council using
Neighbourhood Plans to engage the local communities to draw up appropriate
expansion for their local villages. Those Plans would also form a material consideration
in planning policy and could be used successfully to deter speculative development.
The last three speakers then left the meeting.
6.

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING - A.1 - LOCAL PLAN EXAMINATION INSPECTOR'S FINDINGS AND NEXT STEPS
Earlier in the meeting Councillors Stock and G V Guglielmi had each declared a
personal interest in this item insofar as they were, respectively, a Director and an
alternate Director of the NEGC Board.
The Committee had before it a detailed report of the Head of Planning (A.1), which
updated it on how the examination of the Local Plan was progressing; reported the
Planning Inspector’s findings in respect of Section 1; and advised it as to the next steps
of the process.
Members were aware that, following a series of hearing sessions held at Colchester’s
Community Stadium in January 2018 followed by a further session in May 2018, the
Inspector had issued his findings in respect of Section 1 of the Local Plan and had
concluded that whilst the Plan met with legal and procedural requirements, additional
work would need to be carried out in order to demonstrate that it met the tests of
soundness. This meant that Section 1 of the Local Plan which was common to Tendring,
Braintree and Colchester Councils (“the Councils”) could not yet be adopted by those
Councils and the examination could not progress to dealing with Section 2 of the Local
Plan, which included policies and proposals specific to the District of Tendring.
The Committee was informed that the Inspector had identified additional evidence that
he required in order to help him determine whether Section 1 of the Plan could be
considered to be sound. Whilst the Inspector was happy with the concept of Garden
Communities, he had requested further evidence - 1) justifying the choice of Garden
Communities over other possible development options; 2) to demonstrate their practical
deliverability and viability within the timescales of the Local Plan and beyond 2033; and

Page 3

Local Plan Committee

30 October 2018

3) the cost and timescales for delivering important public transport and road
improvements.
Importantly however, the Inspector had endorsed the Councils’ Objectively Assessed
Housing Needs (OAN) figures including Tendring’s figure of 550 homes a year which
was critical to the soundness of Section 2 of the Local Plan and this Council’s ability to
demonstrate an ongoing five-year supply of deliverable housing sites. The Inspector had
also indicated that some modifications to certain policies would be required to bring
them in line with the tests of soundness and that those would need to be the subject of
consultation in their own right before the Plan could be adopted.
It was reported that in order to address his questions about Garden Communities, the
Inspector had given the Councils three options to consider, namely:
1) Remove Garden Communities from the Local Plan (for now) and proceed with
the examination of Section 2, so long as the Local Plan was reviewed again
within 2-3 years (at which point the evidence in support of Garden Communities
might be stronger);
2) Do more work to fill in the gaps in the evidence now but delay the examination of
Section 2 until the Inspector was satisfied that the Garden Communities were
deliverable and that Section 1 of the Plan was sound; or
3) Withdraw the Local Plan and start again (which would require compliance with
the new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)).
Members were reminded that the three North Essex Authorities had jointly written to the
Inspector on 22 October 2018 to advise him that the Councils remain committed to using
Garden Communities principles to secure the future housing requirements in the North
Essex Authorities’ area and would provide the further evidence requested by the
Inspector including evidence on:






the availability of funding for the necessary strategic infrastructure;
the financial viability of the proposed communities;
the environmental effects, including transport issues;
employment provision within the Communities (and elsewhere) to ensure
housing growth was matched with economic growth; and
continuing engagement with the local communities.

The Committee was made aware that the Councils had also committed to reviewing the
‘Sustainability Appraisal’ underpinning the choice of strategy in the Local Plan, ensuring
that it considered a full range of realistic alternatives to the Garden Communities, at a
range of different sizes. Importantly, the Councils would review all of the above
mentioned evidence before it was submitted to the Inspector and before any further
consultation. That additional evidence would be the subject of future reports to the
Committee in due course.
Members were advised that the Councils had also agreed that continued support for the
Garden Communities was dependent on funding for the necessary strategic
infrastructure being confirmed, otherwise there would need to be a review of the Local
Plan at the appropriate time to bring forward an alternative strategy. There was also an
acknowledgement that any Garden Community proposed for the Colchester/Braintree

Page 4

Local Plan Committee

30 October 2018

border would be delivered later in the Plan period than previously proposed and that the
timescales for delivering the other Garden Communities would also need to be reviewed
to ensure they were realistic and deliverable.
The Committee was informed that the Councils were awaiting the Inspector’s response
to the letter.
It was reported that, if the Inspector accepted the Councils’ proposal, the timetable for
the next stages of the Local Plan process would shift in order to reflect the requirements
for additional evidence, hearing sessions and consultation. It was currently envisaged
that the additional evidence would be prepared and agreed by February 2019 before
being submitted to the Local Plan Inspector. Further examination hearings for Section 1
of the Local Plan would then take place in, or around, June 2019 following the local
elections. If Section 1 was then found to be sound, the adoption of Section 1 and the
examination of Section 2 could commence before the end of 2019 with the adoption of
the whole Local Plan in 2020. A revised Local Development Scheme (LDS), containing
a detailed timetable, would be prepared for the Committee’s approval in due course.
Having considered and discussed all of the information provided, it was moved by
Councillor G V Guglielmi, seconded by Councillor Bray and unanimously:
RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted.
7.

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING - A.2 - UPDATED HOUSING SUPPLY
POSITION AND HOUSING TRAJECTORY
Earlier in the meeting Councillor Bush had declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in
this item insofar as he owned land that was the subject of Planning Applications
15/00987/OUT and and 18/01766/DISCON. The land that was subject to those planning
applications was referred to in Appendices 1 and 4 to that report.
The Committee had before it a comprehensive report of the Head of Planning (A.2),
which reported to it –




the number of new homes built in the District of Tendring during the 2017/18
financial year;
the current housing land supply position (the ‘five-year’ supply); and
the updated year-by-year trajectory for building new homes over the remainder
of the new Local Plan period up to 2033.

Housing Completions
It was reported that in the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018, 565 new homes had
been completed in Tendring. This meant that the housebuilding target for the District
had been achieved for a second year in succession.
Five Year Supply
The Committee was informed that the Council could demonstrate a 5.66 year supply of
deliverable housing sites. This reflected the Local Plan Inspector’s recommendation that
the housing requirement for Tendring should remain at 550 homes a year and also took

Page 5

Local Plan Committee

30 October 2018

into account recent appeal decisions and changes to the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF).
Housing Trajectory
Members were made aware that the Council could also demonstrate that the
requirement of 11,000 new homes between 2013 and 2033 could be met and
comfortably exceeded. This was through a combination of homes already completed
since April 2013, development on large sites with planning permission, sites allocated
for development in the plan and small ‘windfall’ sites.
In response to a question asked by the Chairman in relation to the concerns raised by
Carol Bannister in her statement made earlier in the meeting, the Planning Manager
(Gary Guiver) stated that he had some sympathy with those concerns and that he would
not be adverse to the requested amendment to Appendix 3 of the report being made.
It was thereupon moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Turner and
unanimously:RESOLVED that the words “All issues raised in objections have been resolved”
contained in the “Other Comments” section relating to Site Code SAMU5 (‘Barleyfields’,
land to the rear of the Council Offices, Thorpe Road, Weeley – Barley Fields Phase 2)
as detailed in Appendix 3 to item A.2 of the Report of the Head of Planning be deleted.
Having discussed the information provided, and following advice from the Head of
Governance and Legal Services (Lisa Hastings) reiterating to Members that, regardless
of the proposed additional wording at (b), each Planning Appeal would also still need to
be defended on its own individual merits, it was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by
Councillor G V Guglielmi and unanimously:
RESOLVED that (a) the Committee endorses the contents of the report as evidence to demonstrate an
up-to-date five year housing land supply (taking into account any changes arising
from the latest demographic information) and for the purposes of determining
planning applications and contesting planning appeals; and
(b) this Committee believes that, as the Council can demonstrate in excess of a five
year housing land supply, the ‘Presumption of Favour of Development’ therefore
should not apply even in cases where important policies are deemed to be ‘out of
date’.
8.

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING - A.3 - THE 2018 NATIONAL PLANNING
POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF)
The Committee had before it a report of the Head of Planning (A.3), which informed it of
the implications of the Government’s new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
Members were informed that the revised NPPF had been published on 24 July 2018
and that the document set out the Government’s planning policies for England and how
those were expected to be applied. This revised Framework replaced the previous
NPPF published in March 2012 and implemented approximately 85 reforms announced

Page 6

Local Plan Committee

30 October 2018

previously in the Housing White Paper, “Planning for the Right Homes in the Right
Places” consultation and the draft revised NPPF Policy consultation.
The Committee was made aware that at the time of issuing the new NPPF, the
Government had also published the following documents:
 the Government’s response to the draft revised National Planning Policy
Framework consultation, setting out its summary of the consultation responses
and the Government’s proposed changes;
 an updated Planning Practice Guidance on housing and economic development
needs assessments;
 an updated Planning Practice Guidance on viability;
 the Housing Delivery Test Measurement Book showing the methodology for
calculating housing deliver; and
 James Brokenshire MP’s Ministerial Statement entitled ‘Housing Policy’.
It was reported that the key alterations and changes in Government policy related to the
following:(a)

Policies to encourage the delivery of new Housing
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)

(b)

Policies to improve Plan Making
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

(c)

Strategic Plans;
Introduction of a new standardised method of calculating Housing Need;
Maintaining Supply;
Annual Position Statement;
Housing Delivery Test;
Revised definition of a deliverable site;
Affordable Housing;
Small Sites Policy;
Entry Level Exception Sites;
Delivery of larger sites; and
Prematurity.

Reviews;
Test of Soundness;
Viability; and
Neighbourhood Plans.

Making more effective use of land
(1) Avoiding low density development.

(d)

Highways
(1) Considering development proposals; and
(2) Parking Standards.

(e)

Design
(1) Importance of design standards emphasised; and

Page 7

Local Plan Committee

30 October 2018

(2) Pre-application discussions.
(f)

Town Centres
(1) More positive and flexible approach.

(g)

Other Issues
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Health and Public Safety;
Ecology;
Environmental Standards;
Storage and Distribution; and
Implementation.

Having discussed all of the information provided, it was moved by Councillor G V
Guglielmi, seconded by Councillor Platt and unanimously:
RESOLVED that the contents of the report and the introduction of the new National
Planning Policy Framework be noted.
The meeting was declared closed at 7.32 pm

Chairman

Page 8

Agenda Item 5

PUBLIC SPEAKING SCHEME - LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE
JANUARY 2016

GENERAL
The Public Speaking Scheme (“the Scheme”) is made pursuant to Council
Procedure Rule 39 and gives the opportunity for a member of the public and other
interested parties/stakeholders to speak to the Council’s elected members on the
Local Plan Committee on any specific agenda item to be considered at that public
meeting.
The Scheme covers both questions and statements to the Committee on a particular
agenda item. Any individual wishing to speak must contact Committee Services (see
details below).
NOTICE OF QUESTION
If an individual wishes to ask a question, at the Local Plan Committee meeting, prior
notification of that question must be received. The principle is to provide the
Chairman (or an Officer, if the Chairman decides appropriate) the ability to fully
answer questions, which have been received in advance.
Notice of a question is received by delivering it in writing or by email to
Committee Services on democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk, by midday on
Thursday 24 January 2019.
At the meeting, you will be given an opportunity to read out your question to the
Committee and an answer will be provided. Supplementary questions are not
permitted and there is no debate by the Committee at this stage.
STATEMENTS
Advance notification of the content of a statement on specific agenda items is not
required, but to assist the running of the agenda, notification of wishing to speak
should be given prior to the meeting. Please contact Committee Services (email
democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk or telephone 01255 686585).

Page 9

NUMBER AND TIMING OF QUESTIONS
At any Local Plan Committee meeting an individual is limited to asking one question
or making a statement per agenda item. On each agenda item, no public speaker
may speak for longer than three minutes.
Consistent with the Council Procedure Rules, the time allocated for receiving and
disposing of questions shall be a maximum 45 minutes. Any question not disposed
of at the end of this time shall be the subject of a written response, and published
with the minutes of the meeting.
SCOPE OF STATEMENTS OR QUESTIONS
Please be straightforward and concise and keep your comments to the content
of the agenda item. Please be courteous and do not make personal remarks.
You may wish to come to the meeting with a written statement of exactly what
you wish to say or read out, having checked beforehand that it will not overrun
the three minutes allowed.
Any question or statement which is not directly related to an agenda item for that
meeting of the Committee will be rejected. For questions, any rejection will be
communicated in advance of the meeting by Officers, and for statements made at
the meeting, this will be confirmed by the Chairman.
The Council also reserves its right to reject questions or statements if in its opinion
the content is defamatory, frivolous or offensive or requires the disclosure of
confidential or exempt information.
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE MEMBERS & POINTS OF CLARIFICATION
No public speaker can be questioned by the Committee however, through the
Chairman, relevant points of clarification arising out of the public speaking can be
requested at the specific agenda item, before the debate commences. Points of
clarification can be given by Officers, with the Chairman’s permission.
WHO DO I CONTACT FOR MORE INFORMATION
The
Council’s
website
www.tendringdc.gov.uk)

will

help

you

access

documents

(web:

If you have a query with regard to public speaking, or wish to register to speak,
please email democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk or telephone 01255 686585.
If your query is in relation to the Local Plan, please contact:
Tendring District Council, Planning Services, Council Offices Thorpe Road, Weeley,
Essex CO16 9AJ Tel: 01255 686177 email: planning.policy@tendringdc.gov.uk

Page 10

Monitoring Officer, Tendring District Council, in consultation with Head of
Planning and Chairman of the Local Plan Committee
(Council Procedure Rule 39)
(January 2016)

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE
29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PLANNING & REGENERATION SERVICES)
A.1

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 2019-2021
(Report prepared by Ashley Wood)

PART 1 – KEY INFORMATION
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
To seek the Local Plan Committee’s agreement to publish a new Local Development Scheme
(LDS) which includes a revised timetable for completing the examination of the Local Plan, taking
into account the Planning Inspector’s latest advice.
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is designed to set out the process for producing the Local
Plan and other planning documents, including the anticipated timetable of consultation periods,
examinations and expected dates of adoption. This document is an essential tool that will help to
ensure the Council sticks, as best as it can, to a set timetable and therefore makes the most
efficient use of its resources. Publishing the LDS also ensures that stakeholders, including
members of the public, Town and Parish Councils, landowners and developers, partner
organisations and, critically, the Planning Inspectorate are kept aware of the timetable the Council
is working to and can therefore organise their time and resources accordingly.
The Council’s last LDS, published in 2017, proposed a timetable of work that aimed to have the
new Local Plan published for two rounds of public consultation, examined by a Planning Inspector
and formally adopted by the Council by September 2018, in line with the relevant planning
regulations.
The Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspector in October 2017 and Examination in Public
of Section 1 of the Plan commenced in Spring 2018. Examination in Public of Section 1 has
currently been paused by the Inspector, to allow the three North Essex authorities to carry out
further work.
Examination in Public of Section 1 is currently anticipated to recommence in Autumn 2019, with the
Inspector’s Section 1 report expected in Winter 2019/20. Subject to the Inspector finding Section 1
of the Plan ‘sound’, commencement of Examination in Public of Section 2 of the Plan is expected to
commence in Spring/Summer 2020. Adoption of both Section 1 and Section 2 of the Plan is
currently anticipated to take place in Winter 2020/21, with the potential to adopt Section 1 in Spring
2020, if adopted independently of Section 2 of the Plan. Should this timetable change as a result of
further delays, an updated LDS will be produced.

Page 13

The LDS has therefore been revised to reflect the change to the timetable and is attached as
Appendix 1.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Local Plan Committee approves the Local Development Scheme (LDS) 2019-2021
(attached as Appendix 1) and agrees to its publication on the Council’s website.

PART 2 – IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION
DELIVERING PRIORITIES
The Local Plan helps to implement place shaping priorities in the Corporate Plan 2016-2020 for
Tendring District Council through:




Community Leadership by engagement with the community and effective partnership
working with technical stakeholders, developers and other interested parties;
Health and Housing through policies that promote healthier lifestyles, a quality living
environment, local regeneration and council house building; and
Employment and Enjoyment through policies that support business growth and skill
development and the protection and promotion of the natural and built environments.

RESOURCES AND RISK
The Local Development Scheme (LDS) has been prepared by the Council’s Planning Policy Team
under the leadership of the Planning Policy Manager within the agreed ‘LDF Budget’. The LDS
itself identifies the resources required to progress the Local Plan and other planning documents
including the need for some additional technical evidence. Without an up to date LDS containing a
realistic timetable for producing a new Local Plan and other planning documents, it will be difficult
to ensure the Council sticks to a set timetable and makes the most efficient use of its resources.
The LDS itself contains a risk assessment that identifies the possible risks to delivering the Local
Plan and other planning documents on time with advice on how the Council will aim to minimise
the likelihood and potential impact of these risks, which include public opposition, the loss or
turnover of planning staff, a financial shortfall, changing political priorities and legal challenges.
LEGAL
The preparation of planning documents including the Local Development Scheme is regulated by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended by the Localism Act 2011 (part 6,
Planning, section 111 Local Development Schemes) in line with the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

Page 14

OTHER IMPLICATIONS
Consideration has been given to the implications of the proposed decision in respect of the following and any
significant issues are set out below.
Crime and Disorder / Equality and Diversity / Health Inequalities /Area or Ward affected / Consultation/Public
Engagement.

Area or Ward affected: All wards.
Consultation/Public Engagement: The Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out the
anticipated timetable for public consultation on the Local Plan and other planning documents.
APPENDICES
Appendix 1) – The Tendring District Council Local Development Scheme (LDS) 2019-2021.

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1 )

Tendring District Local Plan
Local Development Scheme
(LDS) 2019-2021

January 2019

Page 17

1

Contents
1. Introduction

Page 3

2. Background

Page 4

3. Documents to be prepared

Page 7

4. Programme for preparing documents

Page 8

5. Evidence base

Page 11

6. Resources and risk assessment

Page 16

7. Decision making

Page 17

Page 18

2

1 Introduction
1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act requires local planning
authorities such as Tendring District Council to make decisions on planning applications in
accordance with the ‘development plan’, generally referred to as the ‘Local Plan’. Councils have a
duty to ensure their Local Plan is kept up to date, is prepared in accordance with the government’s
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and positively promotes ‘sustainable development’ by
identifying sufficient land for new homes and employment opportunities.
1.2 The Council’s current Local Plan was adopted in 2007 and was only designed to last up until
2011. The government’s policy in the NPPF states that where Local Plans are out of date a
‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ should apply with an expectation that all
planning applications for development be approved unless the adverse impacts of the proposed
development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Because of this, when
the Council does refuse planning permission for new development, the absence of an up to date
Local Plan makes it increasingly difficult to defend such decisions if or when developers choose to
appeal to the Secretary of State. When government Planning Inspectors come to consider such
appeals, the lack of an up to date Local Plan places the Council at a disadvantage and the risk of
planning decisions being overturned is high.
1.3 Between 2007 and 2018, the Council has sought to put a new Local Plan in place including
undertaking a considerable amount of research, technical studies and consultation with residents
and other interested parties on various policies and proposals.
1.4 Councils have a legal duty to cooperate with neighbouring authorities such as: Colchester;
Babergh; Essex Councils; and other statutory bodies including: Natural England; Highways
England; and the Environment Agency. They also have a duty to ensure that Local Plans meet the
requirements of the government as set out in legislation and the NPPF in order for a Plan to be
found ‘sound’ and therefore compliant with planning law.
1.5 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is designed to set out the process for producing the
Local Plan, Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and other planning documents. It includes the
anticipated timetable of consultation periods, examinations and expected dates of adoption.
Publishing the LDS also ensures that stakeholders, including members of the public, Town and
Parish Councils, landowners and developers, partner organisations and the Planning Inspectorate
are kept aware of the timetable the Council is working to and organise their time and resources
accordingly.
1.6 In November 2017, the Council agreed its last Local Development Scheme (LDS) covering
the period 2017-2020. The LDS is a three year programme and is best updated annually.
Therefore, this new LDS updates the 2017 version and extends the timetable to 2021. The
updated LDS provides a revised timetable for the Local Plan and the Community Infrastructure
Levy and introduces the preparation of a Development Plan Document (DPD) for the proposed
Garden Community in the west of Tendring District.

Page 19

3

2 Background
Progress to date and future programme stages
2.1 The Council has already undertaken a significant amount of work to put a new plan in place
having prepared and gathered substantial technical evidence, working in partnership with other
bodies and organisations and having undertaken extensive public consultation. The initial
preparation of a plan between 2007 and 2011 was undertaken in line with the relevant planning
regulations and national planning policies that were in place at that time. These required Councils
to prepare a ‘Local Development Framework’ (LDF) containing a series of planning documents
that, together, would make a core part of the development plan for the area. However, when the
government introduced the new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and revisions to the
planning regulations in 2012, the Council started work on a single ‘Local Plan’ in line with the new
requirements. To date, the preparation of a new Local Plan has followed these stages:


Stage 1: Evidence Gathering
In December 2007, the Council adopted its last Local Plan with planning policies and
proposals to cover a temporary period of four years – in which time it was intended that a
new LDF would be prepared. The first stage of this process involved gathering evidence
that would inform the content of the LDF by preparing and commissioning technical studies
and liaising with partner organisations to understand some of the district’s physical,
environmental and infrastructure limitations and to formulate some sensible options for
future growth.



Stage 2: Consultation on LDF Issues and Possible Options (23 March to 30 May 2009)
Having undertaken considerable research as part of the evidence gathering stage, the
Council produced a ‘discussion document’ for public consultation in March 2009 and held a
series of exhibitions and workshops throughout the district to gauge the views of local
residents, businesses and other interested parties on a number of planning issues and
different suggestions for distributing future growth around the district. The Council received
over 4,000 individual comments and suggestions in response to that consultation exercise.



Stage 3: Consultation on LDF Core Strategy and Development Policies (21 October to 6
December 2010)
Following careful consideration of the comments received in response to the stage 2 issues
and options consultation, the Council prepared a ‘Core Strategy and Development Policies
Document’ containing ‘broad-brush’ proposals for the distribution of new development for
the period up to 2031 along with a set of new planning policies. The intention at that time
was that a Core Strategy would form the first part of an LDF with more detailed policies and
site-specific proposals to follow at a later stage.
The Core Strategy document was published in October 2010 and a further round of public
consultation, including exhibitions and workshops where undertaken. At this stage,
interested parties were invited to object to policies and proposals in the document and
explain why, in their view, the plan would fail to pass the government’s ‘tests of soundness’.
The Council received just over 1,500 individual comments in objection to this document.

Page 20

4



Stage 4: Consultation on Housing Issues (29 September to 31 October 2011)
From the 2010 public consultation, the majority of objections from local residents related to
the number, location and type of new homes being proposed. Many residents called for a
further round of public consultation before the Council made any final decisions on the
content of the plan.
The election of a new government in 2010 was followed with proposals in the new Localism
Bill (which has now become the ‘Localism Act’) aimed at making major changes to the
national planning system including the abolition of regional plans and simplification of
national planning guidance. These changes were initially aimed at giving communities more
say over planning issues in their area, giving Councils more incentives to support new
development, simplifying national planning rules, making it easier for developers to get
planning permission and encouraging Councils to prepare a single ‘Local Plan’ as opposed
to an LDF made up of several parts.
In 2011, the Council therefore decided that it would be an appropriate time to undertake
further public consultation focussing on the main topic of concern, housing development.
This would also allow time for the full implications of the government’s changes to be
understood and for a revised plan to be prepared in accordance with the latest national
requirements. The Council received a further 1,400 individual responses from the public in
response to the consultation exercise.



Stage 5: Consultation on a Draft Local Plan November 2012 to 7 January 2013)
On 11 September 2012, at a meeting of the Full Council, a Draft Local Plan was approved
for public consultation. This plan took into account the various technical studies, information
provided by partner organisations and the various comments received during the three
previous rounds of public consultation. This plan included a ‘fair and proportionate’
approach to the distribution of housing development with all towns and villages expected to
accommodate a 6% increase in housing stock over a 10 year period.
When this plan was published for consultation, 800 comments were received including a
fair number of representations of support. The majority of objections related to a small
number of specific development proposals but there were also some strong objections to
the number of new homes proposed in the plan; the short 10-year time-frame of the plan
and the technical logic behind a 6% increase in housing for all settlements.



Stage 6: Consultation on Focussed Changes (6 January 2014 to 17 February 2014)
Having considered the 800 comments submitted in response to the 2012 Draft Local Plan,
the Council accepted that a number of changes could be made to address some of the
objections including extending the length of the plan period from 10 to 15 years, indicating
some broad locations where longer-term growth was most likely to take place and making
amendments to some of the more controversial development proposals.
The Council produced a document containing a series of proposed ‘Focussed Changes’
and these were published for consultation, attracting a further 560 comments. Whilst the
changes resulted in many of the objections from members of the public being addressed,
they also attracted strong objections concerned that the plan was failing to identify sufficient
land to meet the objectively assessed need for housing, in full – as required by the NPPF.
The objections to the failure to identify sufficient land for development led to preliminary

Page 21

5

advice being received for the Planning Inspectorate that the Plan would be likely to fail the
soundness tests of an Examination in Public.


Stage 7: Consultation on Issues and Options (1 September 2015 to 13 October 2015)
Whilst the themes of the development management policies in the draft Local Plan (2012 &
2014) have been carried forward with some modifications, the strategic elements including
housing required a complete refresh. This refresh was required not only due to the previous
identification of a lack of sufficient housing land but also due to a change in the way
housing requirement should be calculated. The Government’s Planning Practice Guidance
changed the way in which housing need and requirement should be calculated using
population and household projections as a starting point, then uplifting for market indicators
to produce an Objectively Assessed Housing Need. Only then can policy considerations on
supply and constraints be considered.
To address these changes the Strategic Housing Market Area (SHMA) authorities of
Braintree, Chelmsford, Colchester and Tendring commissioned a housing needs
assessment from Peter Brett Associates. This produced a minimum annualised dwelling
requirement of 550 units per year. This was used to prepare the Publication Draft
Consultation Documents for the Local Plan.



Stage 8: Consultation on the Preferred Options Local Plan 14 July 2016 - 8 September
2016
The Preferred Options Local Plan was consulted upon from 14 July – 8 September 2016.
The results of the consultation were presented to the Local Plan Committee in November
2016.



Part 1 of the Local Plan covers strategic matters and has been jointly prepared by
Braintree, Colchester, Essex and Tendring Councils. Part 2 contains policies relating solely
to this District and has been prepared by Tendring District Council



Stage 9: Consultation on behalf of Government on the Publication Local Plan 16 June 2017
to 28 July 2017
The Publication Draft of the Local Plan, which the council believes will meet the legal tests,
is required for a sound Local Plan. These tests are examined in a public forum known as
the ‘Examination in Public’. The Council consults the public on this version of the plan on
behalf of the government and submits all responses to the government. The government
then appoints an independent (of government, the council and any other party) Planning
Inspector to undertake the Examination in Public. The Council received 616 comments from
the consultation period across the Local Plan (both Sections included).
The policy which received the most comments was in regard to the housing supply as many
developers objected on the grounds that they perceived 550 dwellings per year to be too
low for Tendring District Council.



Stage 10: Examination in Public, Modifications and Adoption of the Local Plan
Under current practice, the appointed Planning Inspector will assess the submitted Local
Plan documents and call hearings on any matters they consider need further clarification.
The Inspector will be asked by the Council to make good any areas of concern by
suggesting ‘proposed’ modifications. These may be subject to further public consultation

Page 22

6

and hearing. If however the Inspector considers the modifications needed to make the plan
sound are significant they may ask the Council to withdraw the Local Plan and go back to
an earlier stage of production.
Examination in Public of the joint strategic Section 1 of the Local Plan commenced in
January 2018. This has currently been paused by the Planning Inspector to allow the North
Essex Authorities to carry out further work. Examination in Public with resume when the
work has been completed and submitted to the Inspector.
Examination in Public of Section 2 will commence once Section 1 of the Local Plan has
been found ‘sound’ by the Inspector.

3 Documents to be Prepared
3.1

For the period 2019 to 2021, the following planning documents will be prepared:



Tendring District Local Plan
The Local Plan will be the main planning document for Tendring setting out the strategy for
growth for the period to 2033 and beyond, identifying specific sites for development and
including the policies that will be used in the determination of planning applications. The
new document will supersede the 2007 ‘saved’ policies.
The Plan will be created with two parts, the strategic elements and the development
management elements.
1) The strategic elements will be prepared in collaboration with Braintree, Colchester, and
Essex Councils. The strategic policies will, as considered appropriate to all Councils,
seek to establish common policy based on common evidence. This strategic element of
the individual Local Plans will enable a collective vision for sustainable implementation
of the development plans in north east Essex.
2) The development management policies in the plans may share commonality in the
districts but others will be bespoke to the individual Local Planning Authority Areas. The
bespoke policies for Tendring form Section 2 of the Local Plan.



Development Plan Document for the Garden Community in west Tendring
A Development Plan Document (DPD) follows the same process for preparation as a Local
Plan. It builds on policy or policies in the Local Plan and provides significantly more
implementation detail. Any DPD for west Tendring will require the co-operation and
collaboration with Colchester Borough Council. This DPD in Colchester’s LDS is described
as a ‘Strategic Growth Development Plan Document’.
In Section 1 of the Publication Draft of the Local Plan, Policy SP8 states: “The Strategic
Growth DPD will set out the nature, form and boundary of the new community. The
document will be produced in consultation with stakeholders and will include a concept plan
showing the disposition and quantity of future land-uses, and give a three dimensional
indication of the urban design and landscape parameters which will be incorporated into
any future planning applications; together with a phasing and implementation strategy
which sets out how the rate of development will be linked to the provision of the necessary
7

Page 23

social, physical and environmental infrastructure, to ensure that the respective phases of
the development do not come forward until the necessary infrastructure has been secured.
The DPD will provide the framework for the subsequent development of more detailed
masterplans and other design and planning guidance for the Tendring / Colchester Borders
Garden Community.”


CIL Charging Schedule
The proposals for development in the new Local Plan will need to be supported by
investment in the necessary infrastructure. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan will identify
each piece of infrastructure that is needed and set out the mechanism for delivering these
items. One source of funding could be the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and this
document would include the ‘charging schedule’ setting out how much money developers
will be expected to contribute toward infrastructure provision from developments in certain
parts of the district using a formula based on £ per sqm of floorspace.



Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR)
The Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR) will be published annually to demonstrate how the
Council’s planning policies have performed over a 12 month period against a range of
established indicators. The AMR will also include general information about the district
including the population and local economy.

4 Programme for Preparing Documents
Tendring District Local Plan
Subject and scope

This document will supersede the Council’s 2007 ‘saved
policies’ and cover the period to 2033 and beyond.
It will include the strategic and development management
policies, site specific and broad allocations and Local Plan
Policies Maps.

Geographical area

The strategic policies for Garden Communities will be
prepared in collaboration with Braintree, Colchester and
Essex Councils and be known as Section 1 of the Local
Plan.
Development Management policies which are relevant to
specific parts or all of Tendring will be prepared by Tendring
District Council and be known as Section 2 of the Local
Plan.

Chain of conformity

The relevant Planning Acts and Regulations
Essex Minerals and Waste Plans
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Timetable for production
Preparation of draft Local Plan
(Preferred Options)

May 2014 / Dec 2017

Page 24

8

Member approval to publish
preferred options Local Plan for
consultation

June 2016

Publication of Preferred Options
Document and Sustainability
Appraisal for consultation with
the public and other stakeholders

August - September 2016

Member approval to publish for
final consultation and submit the
plan for examination.

June 2017

Publication of Proposed
Submission Document and final
Sustainability Appraisal for
consultation with the public and
other stakeholders

June – July 2017

Submit documents and
information to Secretary of State

October 2017

Independent examination
Section 1
Section 2

Autumn 2019
Spring/Summer 2020

Receipt of Inspector’s report
Section 1
Section 2

Winter 2019/20
Autumn 2020

Adoption (Full Council)
Section 1
Section 1 and 2

Spring 2020 (if adopted independently)
Winter 2020/21

Timetable for review

The Local Plan will need to be reviewed within 5 years of
adoption to maintain an ongoing supply of land for
development and address any other planning issues that
arise.

Garden Community Development Plan Document (DPD)
Subject and scope

Geographical area

This document will contain policies and allocations to
support a Garden Community in west Tendring. This DPD
is likely to be produced jointly with Colchester Borough
Council.
Area to be determined by the Local Plan

Chain of conformity

Tendring and Colchester Local Plans
The relevant Planning Acts and Regulations
Essex Minerals and Waste Plans
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

Page 25

9

Timetable for production
Preparation of draft DPD (Issues
and Options)
Member approval of issues and
options DPD
Issues and Options Consultation
Document Preparation
Member approval of draft DPD
Draft DPD Consultation
Document Preparation
Member approval of submission
DPD
Submission DPD Consultation
Submission to Secretary of State

Summer 2017- Autumn 2017

Examination

Summer 2022

Inspector’s report

Autumn 2022

Adoption (Full Council)

Winter 2022/23

Timetable for review

This will be reviewed and updated as necessary.

Autumn 2017
Winter 2017/18
Winter 2019/20 – Winter 2020/21
Winter 2020/21
Winter 2020/21
Spring 2021 – Winter 2021/22
Winter 2021/22
Winter 2021/22
Spring 2022

Infrastructure Delivery Plan and CIL Charging Schedule
Subject and Scope

If needed this document would set out the Council’s
approach to using legal agreements and securing
development contributions to deliver infrastructure,
affordable housing and other local benefits from
development. The document could include the Council’s
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule.

Geographical Area

All of the Tendring District. Some areas of Tendring may be
established as CIL exempt

Chain of Conformity
Relevant Planning Acts and CIL Regulations
Emerging Local Plan
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Timetable for production
Preparation of document

Spring 2020

Member approval for initial
consultation

Summer 2020

Publication of document for
consultation

Autumn 2020

Member approval for final
consultation and submit the
document for examination
Submit documents and
information to Secretary of State

Winter 2020
Spring 2021

Page 26

10

Independent examination

Summer 2021

Inspector’s report

Autumn 2021

Adoption (Council)

Winter 2021

Timetable for review

The document will be reviewed on an annual basis to
determine whether or not any changes to the CIL timetable
are necessary

Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR)
Subject and Scope

This document will provides a high level analysis of how the
Council’s planning policies are performing against a range
of indicators.

Geographical Area

All of the Tendring District.

Chain of Conformity

The content of the document should correspond with
policies in the Local Plan.

Timetable for production – same process followed each year
Preparation of document

January - March

Publication of the AMR

April - June

Timetable for review

The Authorities Monitoring Report is produced annually.

5 Evidence Base
5.1 To comply with the relevant Planning Acts, Regulations and national policy contained within
the NPPF, it is essential that the policies and proposals in Local Plans and the charging schedule
in CIL are based on objective evidence. This can include surveys, technical studies and
consultants’ reports. The Council has already compiled and prepared a significant amount of
evidence and the majority of this evidence will remain sufficiently relevant and robust to inform the
new Local Plan and CIL going forward. There are, however, some areas where either additional
evidence is needed or existing evidence needs updating. The following table identifies each
element of the evidence base, its purpose, current relevance and any timetables for future work.
This list will alter as policy requirements from the government changes.
5.2
Subject Area: Housing (NPPF paragraph 59)
Evidence
Purpose
Demographic and Household To inform the preparation of a
Strategic Housing Market
Projections

Strategic Housing Market
Assessment (SHMA)

Assessment and inform decisions
on the ‘objectively assessed need
for housing’.
To calculate the ‘objectively
assessed need’ for housing and
inform the approach to the size,
type and tenure of housing

Page 27

Relevance/Timescales
Undertaken for all Essex
Authorities through the Essex
Planning Officers Association.
Last projections were produced in
September 2016.
This was undertaken in two parts:
the objectively assessed housing
needs study by Peter Brett
Associates (November 2016) and

11

needed.

Strategic Housing and Land
Availability Assessment
(SHLAA)

To assess the suitability,
availability and deliverability of
potential housing sites and inform
the allocation of land for housing.

Gypsy and Traveller
Accommodation
Assessment (GTAA)

To calculate the ‘objectively
assessed need’ for sites and
pitches for Travellers – as
required by the government’s
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites
(March 2012).
To inform decisions on allocating
sites for Travellers to meet
objectively assessed needs. This
pre-dates the latest GTAA.

Gypsy Sites Accommodation
Study

Housing Sizes in the Urban
Areas of the Tendring
District
Jaywick Sands Place Plan

A survey of house sizes in
different parts of the district to
inform the Council’s policies in
minimum space standards.
To establish a framework for
development aimed at
regenerating Jaywick Sands

Subject Area: Business (NPPF paragraphs 160 to 161)
Evidence
Purpose
To inform the overarching
Economic Development
approach to economic
Strategy

the SHMA undertaken by HDH
Planning and Development
(December 2015).
Undertaken by Council Officers.
The Issues and Options
consultation included a “call for
sites”, these have been
incorporated into the SHLAA. The
SHLAA was last updated in April
2018.
Undertaken by consultants ORS
for all Essex authorities and
completed in May 2017. An
update was completed in 2018.
Undertaken by consultants Mott
MacDonald, completed in
December 2010 and amended in
February 2011. The new GTAA
had suggested that additional
sites will be needed and this study
sets out a sound methodology for
identifying sites that the Council
can use without the need to
commission an update to the
study.
Undertaken by Council Officers
and completed in August 2013.
Work currently being undertaken
by Council Offices and Hat
Projects Limited with the
emphasis on deliverability.
Consultation will be undertaken in
Spring/Summer 2019 with the
Place Plan being completed by
December 2019. Planning
applications for small scale
development may be submitted in
2019.

Relevance/Timescales
Currently being updated.
Update

development and job creation in
the district.

Employment Land Review

To inform the allocation and
protection of land for business and
industrial use in terms of amount
and location.

Currently being updated.

Retail Study

To identify the need for additional
retail units to meet residents’
demands for goods and services
and thus inform the allocation and
protection of town centres and

Undertaken by consultants WYG
2016. No need for review.

Page 28

12

Hotel and Guesthouse
Retention Study

Holiday Park Sector Review

Walton-on-the-Naze
Regeneration Framework
Dovercourt Rediscovered

potential development sites.
To inform the policies on
protecting hotels and guesthouses
in the district and advise on how
they might need to develop in the
future to reflect changing trends
and demands
To inform the allocation and
protection of holiday parks in the
district and advise on how they
might need to develop in the
future to reflect changing trends
and demands.
To advise the Council on ways to
regenerate the economy of
Walton-on-the-Naze and inform
relevant policies in the Local Plan.
To advise the Council on ways to
regenerate the economy of
Dovercourt Town Centre and
inform relevant policies in the
Local Plan.

Subject Area: Infrastructure (NPPF paragraph 162)
Evidence
Purpose
To assess the capacity of
Infrastructure Study

Haven Gateway Watercycle
Study

Tendring’s infrastructure, including
transport, health, education and
utilities to inform decisions on
where to locate future growth and
provide the baseline evidence for
use in seeking funding for
improvements, including through
Community Infrastructure Levy
(CIL).
To provide evidence to Haven
Gateway authorities and utility
companies about sewage
treatment capacity to support
plans for growth in the area.

Review scheduled for 2019.

Review scheduled for 2019.

Undertaken by consultants BNP
Paribas and completed in January
2010. No imminent need for
review.
Currently being updated.

Relevance/Timescales
Currently under commission with
Braintree, Chelmsford and
Colchester local planning
authorities.

Stage 1 report completed May
2008 and Stage 2 report
completed November 2009. These
reports will inform the
Infrastructure Study.
No imminent need for review.

Subject Area: Minerals (NPPF paragraph 163)
Essex County Council is the planning authority for minerals and it prepares the evidence needed to inform
the content of the Minerals Local Plan. Tendring District Council is a key consultee in the preparation of that
plan.

Subject Area: Defence, security, counter-terrorism & resilience (NPPF paragraph 164)
There is no need for any specific evidence to be prepared, but the Council will consult relevant bodies to
ensure that plans for development do not impact upon the operations of any defence or security installations.

Page 29

13

Subject Area: Environment (NPPF paragraphs 165 to 168)
Evidence
Purpose
To identify areas at risk of
Flood Risk Assessment
flooding, measure the potential
(SFRA)

Essex and South Suffolk
Shoreline Management Plan

Jaywick Strategic Flood Risk
Study
Harwich Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment (SFRA)

Landscape Character
Assessment
Landscape Impact
Assessment

risks within different parts of the
flood zone and inform the
‘sequential approach’ to locating
development away from flood risk
areas.
To set out a strategy for protecting
different sections of the Essex and
South Suffolk coast from flooding
and coastal erosion to be
implemented by the Environment
Agency, working with its partners.
SFRA carried out specifically for
Jaywick Sands in support of the
Council’s policies to promote
regeneration in that area.
SFRA carried out specifically for
Harwich in support of the
Council’s policies to promote
regeneration in that area.
To define the different
characteristics of the district’s
landscape and help inform
Planning decisions.
To test the potential landscape
impact of development on a range
of urban-edge greenfield sites and
thus inform the allocation of sites
for housing and other forms of
development.

Local Wildlife Site Review

To assess the wildlife value of all
parts of the district and inform the
identification of ‘Local Wildlife
Sites’ (LoWS) deemed worthy of
protection through the Local Plan.

Habitat Regulation
Assessment

To assess the impact of proposals
and policies in the Local Plan on
habitats of international
importance and advise the Council
on how to avoid, minimise or
mitigate any impacts.

Relevance/Timescales
Completed March 2009.
Local Plan allocations will
generally avoid sites in Flood
Zones 2 and 3 and therefore there
is no imminent need for review.
Completed in 2012. Any review
would be undertaken by the
Environment Agency working with
its partners. No imminent need for
review.
Completed May 2008. SFRA
specifically for Jaywick Sands
updated in April 2015.
Level 1 report completed April
2008.
Level 2 report completed August
2008.
No imminent need for review.
Completed 2001.
Review within 15-20 years.
No imminent need for review.
Stage 1 report completed April
2009.
Stage 2 report completed March
2010.
NPPF now attaches less weight to
landscape impact issues and
therefore no review is needed.
Undertaken by Essex Ecological
Services (EECOS) and completed
in September 2009.
Specific survey of land off
Crestwood Meadow, Alresford
undertaken in 2013 in response to
requests from residents.
Consider review.
Two reports were completed by
consultants LUC in May 2017 for
Shared Strategic Section 1 and in
October 2018 for Publication Draft
Section 2 of the Plan.

Subject Area: Historic Environment (NPPF paragraphs 169 to 170)
Evidence
Purpose
Relevance/Timescales
To define the different
Completed December 2008 by
Historic Environment
characteristics
of
the
district’s
Essex County Council.
Characterisation Project
historic character and help inform
decisions on local plan
designations and planning
applications.

Page 30

Review within 15-20 years.
No imminent need for review.

14

Geodiversity
Characterisation Report

To assess the geo-diversity of the
Tendring District – i.e. the
composition of minerals below the
ground.

Completed May 2009 by Essex
County Council.
Review within 15-20 years.
No imminent need for review.

Conservation Area
Appraisals

To help inform decisions relating
to development in Conservation
Areas and to review their
boundaries.

Undertaken as and when required.
Conservation Area Appraisal for
Clacton currently under review by
Essex County Council.

Subject Area: Health and well-being (NPPF paragraph 171)
Evidence
Purpose
To establish quantitative and
Open Space, Sport and
qualitative standards for open
Recreation Strategy

Relevance/Timescales
Reports were completed by
consultants KKP in April 2017.

space, sport and recreation
provision to inform policies in the
Local Plan and the use of s106 or
CIL money.

Subject Area: Public safety from major accidents (NPPF paragraph 172)
There is no need for any specific evidence to be prepared, but the Council will consult relevant bodies,
including the Highways Authority and Highways Agency, to ensure that plans for development do not create
new or exacerbate existing accident black-spots, seeking, wherever possible, to address them.

Subject Area: Ensuring viability and deliverability (NPPF paragraphs 173 to 177)
To assess the economic viability
Currently being reviewed.
Viability Testing
of Local Plan policies to ensure
that development is viable and
therefore realistically achievable.
Also to inform decisions on setting
CIL tariffs.

Sustainability Appraisal, Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulation
Assessment
5.3 As well as having to be based on robust but proportional technical evidence, Local Plans and
some other planning documents must also be accompanied by a ‘Sustainability Appraisal’
incorporating a ‘Strategic Environmental Assessment’ and, where they are likely to affect sites of
international importance for nature conservation, a ‘Habitats Regulation Assessment’.
5.4 Sustainability Appraisal is a requirement under Section 19 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 and must be undertaken for each stage of the plan-making process to ensure
that the plan does everything it can to achieve sustainable development. Many of the requirements
for sustainability appraisals happen to overlap with some of the requirements in the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, which gives effect to European Directive
2001/42/EC on the ‘assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes on the
environment. It is a requirement of both UK and European Law to appraise the sustainability and
environmental effects of proposals in the Local Plan and other planning documents. Therefore, at
key stages of the plan making process i.e. draft plan consultation and submission stages, the
Council will also publish a Sustainability Appraisal incorporating the Strategic Environmental
Assessment.
5.5 A Habitat Regulation Assessment, or ‘Appropriate Assessment’ as it is often called, is a
requirement from the European Habitat Directive (92/43/EEC) and, for Tendring, will be necessary

Page 31

15

to assess the impact of the Local Plan’s policies and proposals on three sites of international
importance for nature conservation – Hamford Water, the Colne Estuary and the Stour Estuary.

6 Resources and Risk Assessment
6.1 In undertaking major projects such as the preparation of a new Local Plan, DPD and CIL, it is
important to understand the resources needed and the potential risks along with the impact they
could have on the process of plan preparation, consultation and examination.
Professional Officer Input
6.2 The preparation of the emerging Local Plan and other planning documents will be led by the
Council’s Planning Policy Team which consists of the a Planning Policy Manager, Planning Policy
Team Leader, two Planning Officers and two Planning Technicians (one full time and one part
time) . The Planning Policy Team will also draw on the knowledge, help and experience of other
officers within the Council to ensure the Local Plan complies with, and helps to deliver, corporate
objectives. Through the legal Duty to Cooperate, there will also be strong input from professional
officers from partner organisations such as Essex County Council, the Environment Agency,
Highways England and the NHS.
6.3 The production of strategic elements of the Local Plan and site allocations that cross Local
Planning Authority Boundaries will require officers and members input from the north Essex
authorities.
Financial Resources
6.4 The Council has allocated a budget for the preparation of the Local Plan in recognition of
how important this document is to the future of the district. The most significant costs are expected
to be the commissioning and updating of technical studies and the cost of the examination. The
latter will require the Council to pay fees to the Planning Inspectorate, employ a ‘Programme
Officer’ to administrate the examination process and employ, where necessary, specialist planning
consultants or lawyers to deal with issues of technical or legal complexity.
6.5 Any strategic elements across authorities will be paid for jointly by the relevant authorities
and from the Ministry for Housing, Communities & Local Government as appropriate.

Risk Assessment
Issue and level of Risk
Significant public opposition to
the new Local Plan
High Risk /Medium Impact

Comment and proposed mitigation measures
The preparation of a new Local Plan proposing a significant
increase in development in the district is likely to be
contentious. Through the Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI), the Council has set out a programme of
consultation that focusses on the specific areas likely to be
affected by new strategic development sites. Whilst the
likelihood of a large number of objections is high, the impact
on the process should be medium unless any of the objectors
raise legitimate planning concerns that bring into question the

Page 32

16

Local Plan’s conformity with the NPPF. If the proposals in the
plan are based on robust evidence, it will be difficult for
objectors to identify such issues.
The Council has mechanisms to enable new staff to be
employed either on a permanent or temporary basis in order to
fill any vacancies.

Loss/turnover of staff
Low Risk/High Impact

Additionally any strategic work with other authorities will
enable shared resources and funding on mutually beneficial
outputs.
The Council has allocated a significant budget to the
preparation of the Local Plan in recognition of how important
this document will be to the future of the district. There is a risk
that, due to general pressures to reduce budgets, the money
available could be reduced or withdrawn, but the risk is low –
particularly as proceeding with a revised Local Plan will open
up opportunities to attract external funding, generate New
Homes Bonus and secure Community Infrastructure Levy
(CIL) as well as increasing Council revenue through the
construction of new residential and commercial properties.

Financial shortfall
Low Risk/High Impact

Changing political priorities
High Risk/High Impact
Legal challenge
Medium Risk/High Impact

The setting up of a dedicated Local Plan Committee involving
Councillors from all political groups should help to minimise the
risk of the Local Plan being delayed for political reasons.
There is a possibility of legal challenge to any Local Plan once
a Council has reached a decision to adopt. By ensuring that all
of the correct legal procedures are followed, including the duty
to cooperate, the need for a Sustainability Appraisal, and the
need to undertake consultation in line with the planning
regulations, the Council will aim to minimise the grounds upon
which a legal challenge could be based.

7 Decision Making
7.1 The Local Plan is one of the Council’s most important documents; it therefore requires
endorsement by the majority of the Council’s democratically elected Members. In March 2014, the
Council agreed to set up a dedicated ‘Local Plan Committee’ made up of 15 elected Councillors to
oversee the preparation of the new Local Plan and other planning documents. The table below
sets out the different decision making powers at different levels of the organisation that relate to
the Local Plan and other planning documents.
Decision maker

Type of decision

Full Council

Approving the content and submission of the Local Plan to the Secretary
of State for examination by a government Planning Inspector.

Comprising all TDC
Members

Formally ‘adopting’ the Local Plan following confirmation, from the
Planning Inspector, that the plan is legally compliant and sound.

Page 33

17

Local Plan Committee
Comprising 15 TDC
Members

Approving the content of the Local Plan – Preferred Options Document
for public consultation.
Approving the content of the Local Plan – Proposed Submission Draft
any ‘pre-submission focussed changes’ for consultation with the Cabinet
and recommendation to Full Council.
Approving the commissioning and publication of the evidence base
relating to the Local Plan, including surveys, technical studies and
consultants’ reports.
Updating and approving the Infrastructure Delivery Plan and CIL
Charging Schedule for public consultation, submission to the Secretary
of State for examination by a government Planning Inspector and formal
adoption.
Approving ‘Supplementary Planning Documents’ (SPD) for public
consultation and formal adoption.

Cabinet

Commenting on the content of the Local Plan – Proposed Submission
Draft, as recommended by the Local Plan Committee before a final
recommendation is made to Full Council.

Head of Planning in
liaison with the Local
Plan Committee
Chairman

Delegation by the Local Plan Committee e.g. for changes to any planning
documents aimed at improving consistency and correcting minor errors
that do not in any way constitute a change in the thrust, meaning or
interpretation of any policy or proposal and e.g. collaboration on
evidence base for Local Plan preparation.

Page 34

18

Agenda Item 7
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE
29 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PLANNING & REGENERATION SERVICES)
A.2

PLANNING REFORM: SUPPORTING THE HIGH STREET AND INCREASING THE
DELIVERY OF NEW HOMES CONSULTATION RESPONSE
(Report prepared by William Fuller)

PART 1 – KEY INFORMATION
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
To inform the Local Plan Committee of the implications of the Government’s new Planning Reform
paper.
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Government published its ‘Planning Reform: Supporting the High Street and Increasing the
Delivery of New Homes’ consultation between the 29 October 2018 and 14 January 2019. The
consultation was open to all public and private bodies and members of the public.
The consultation included separate proposals in respect of:






Part 1: new and amended permitted development rights and changes to use classes,
including to support the regeneration of the high street and to extend existing buildings
upwards to create new homes.
Part 2: the disposal of surplus local authority land - rationalising and updating the rules which
govern disposal of public land at less than best value.
Part 3: a draft listed building consent order to support the work of the Canal & River Trust.
Part 4: draft guidance on the compulsory purchase powers of new town development
corporations.

Part 1: Permitted development rights and use classes
The Government is seeking views on new permitted development rights to allow greater flexibility
for change of use; use the airspace above existing buildings for additional new homes and
extensions; remove the right to install new public call boxes and the associated advertising consent;
and increase the height threshold for the installation of off-street electric vehicle charging points.
They also propose to make permanent other existing time-limited rights, and to make an update to
the Use Classes Order to reflect changing high streets and make them more resilient.
Part 2: Disposal of local authority land
There are well established consent procedures in place where local authorities seek to dispose of
surplus land at less than best consideration. The Government is proposing to extend local
authorities’ freedoms to do so without seeking consent from the Secretary of State, thereby

Page 35

providing greater flexibility to dispose of surplus land in support of local development objectives.
Part 3: Canal & River Trust: Draft listed building consent order
The Government is proposing to make the first listed building consent order which will allow minor,
routine works to the Canal & River Trust’s listed waterway structures without the need for individual
listed building consent applications. This will remove unnecessary applications from the system
while ensuring that appropriate protection for listed buildings and their settings is maintained.
Part 4: New town development corporations: Draft compulsory purchase guidance
Finally, the Government is seeking views on draft guidance on the compulsory purchase powers of
new town development corporations. It sets out, amongst other things, the factors which Ministers
will take into account when deciding whether or not to confirm new town compulsory purchase
orders. This is intended to provide additional clarity to those with an interest in proposed new
settlements, including promoters, investors, infrastructure providers, landowners and local
communities.
The deadline to respond to the Government’s consultation fell between two Local Plan Committee
cycles. In preparing a response Officers consulted internally and with the North Essex Authorities.
Due to the time allowed for these consultees to respond, action had to be taken prior to seeking a
decision from the Local Plan Committee. Given this tight time turnaround, Officers consulted with
Councillor Stock OBE in his capacity as Leader of the Council and the Chairman of the Local Plan
Committee to agree the draft response for submission, with the matter being reported to the
Committee thereafter.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Local Plan Committee notes the content of this report which includes the
consultation response which was previously the subject of consultation with an agreement
by the Chairman of this Committee. The report was submitted to Government on the 14th
January 2019.
PART 2 – IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION
DELIVERING PRIORITIES
The preparation of a new Local Plan is a high priority for the Council. It is also the goal of
government for local planning authorities to deliver sustainable development and coordinated
provision of housing, jobs and infrastructure whilst protecting and enhancing the natural and built
environment. The delivery of new housing is a key element of the Local Plan and the new NPPF
has implications for this.
RESOURCES AND RISK
The draft response to the consultation proposals was prepared by the Council’s planning team
within the agreed ‘LDF Budget’.

Page 36

Risks: Should the Council choose not to respond to the consultation document, we would have no
formal input into the changes to permitted development rights and other high street activities as
proposed by the Government.
LEGAL
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires Local Plans to be based on adequate,
up-to-date and relevant evidence about the economic, social and environmental characteristics
and prospects of the area.
OTHER IMPLICATIONS
Area or Ward affected: All wards.

PART 3 – SUPPORTING INFORMATION
The ‘Planning Reform: Supporting the High Street and Increasing the Delivery of New Homes’
sets out a number proposed changes to the planning system. These fall into four broad areas:






Part 1: new and amended permitted development rights and changes to use classes,
including to support the regeneration of the high street and to extend existing buildings
upwards to create new homes.
Part 2: the disposal of surplus local authority land - rationalising and updating the rules
which govern disposal of public land at less than best value.
Part 3: a draft listed building consent order to support the work of the Canal & River Trust.
Part 4: draft guidance on the compulsory purchase powers of new town development
corporations.

Introduction
In recent years and in the last ten years specifically, town centres have seen a decline in
prosperity and draw for the public throughout the UK. Drivers for this principally revolve around
the emergence of internet shopping and the economic down turn. Locally, in recent months our
District has seen this decline first hand. With the closure of major retailers in the District’s
biggest town and issues around antisocial behaviour, Tendring is well placed to comment on the
proposed town centre changes detailed in this consultation. This Council has already set up a
Working Party to look at the issues facing Clacton Town Centre and the relaxation of planning
rules to enable a more flexible range of uses, enabling town centres to change from purely
shopping destinations to offer a more of a rounded experience.
Part 1: Permitted development rights and use classes
In this consultation the Government was considering allowing a number of ‘A’ use classes (and
others) to change to office use without planning permission. Your officers did not agree with this
as an approach as it would not promote an active frontage within our streets.

Page 37

New permitted development rights were also proposed to allow takeaways to change to
residential under prior approval rather than full planning permission. We were asked to consider
what matters for consideration would be contained within the prior approval application. Broadly
we agreed but location and parking would need to be carefully considered.
Councils are asked if a number of now temporary permitted changes of use should allow change
to a public library, exhibition hall, museum, clinic or health centre and any other uses. We were
also asked if these temporary uses should extend from 2 years to 3.
Whilst we do agree with the proposed uses listed in paragraph 1.9, we consider that this could
go further. We consider that there should not be temporary uses at all. Town centres need to be
flexible and not constrained by short term use changes. It is also considered that temporary
uses do not ensure sufficient certainty and can be complicated to monitor from a planning
standpoint. Officers also considered that nurseries/child care, escape rooms, indoor sports uses
(such as court games) and other ‘D’ uses have the potential to gain a temporary use. Officers
considered that the change from 2 years to 3 would be acceptable.
We were asked to consider changes to the ‘A’ use classes. Should the A1 use class be
simplified to ensure it captures future retail models; or, should the A1, A2 and A3 use classes be
merged to create a single use class?
Officers considered that merging the use classes could give greater flexibility.
Councils were asked to consider the possibility of town centre properties being allowed to
extend upwards under permitted development to allow new homes. We were asked if local
design codes could help with this. Questions were also asked about defining the height that
might be allowed. This could be no higher than the highest part of a terrace or to suit the
prevailing character of an area. If the more broad approach is taken we were asked if there
should be a maximum height of no more than five storeys. We were also asked to consider how
uneven ground would be addressed.
Whilst officers could see there may be some scope for this, impact on heritage assets was
raised as a concern. It was considered that design codes could help but these should be at an
area rather than District level to give detail. As far as height is concerned, officers considered
that buildings should be extended no higher than the highest part of that particular terrace. We
further considered that the maximum height of five storeys would be suitable if the more broad
approach was taken, however we considered this approach to be too lenient and vague. With
regard to uneven ground we considered that taking a measurement from the highest ground
level may be appropriate.
We were asked whether blocks of flats should have a new right to allow additional storeys on
them and how many storeys these should be. We were also asked if other premises should
have this same right. These uses could include: C3 residential premises, those A class and sui
generis high street uses that can already change use to housing under a permitted development
right (shops (A1), financial and professional services (A2), restaurants and cafes (A3), betting
shops, pay day loan shops and launderettes), offices (B1 (a)), and buildings in mixed use within
these uses. Councils were also asked if any other uses would be suitable.
Officers considered that no additional storeys would be acceptable.

Page 38

The consultation asks if local authorities should assess the above mentioned permitted
development rights as prior approval applications and what matters should be covered in such
an application. We were asked if anything not suggested by the Government should be included
within the prior approval application.
We agreed that the permitted development mentioned above should be assessed by local
authorities as prior approval applications and that those matters suggested by the Government
should be included. These being: matters such as flooding and contamination risks, transport
and highways and the impact on existing occupiers and businesses, design, siting and
appearance and its impact on the amenity and character of the area will all be considered.
Councils were also asked if a right should exist to allow dwellings to extend upwards without
planning permission. We did not agree with this.
We were asked if we thought that the right of allowing public call boxes to be erected and
adverts to be installed on them without consent should be withdrawn. We were also asked to
consider the increase in height of electric charging points for electric vehicles. Officers agreed
with this.
It was proposed that the temporary right for changes of use from storage and distribution to
dwellings and the larger extensions to dwellings both be made permanent. We were asked to
consider a fee for these new applications. Officers considered these changes to be acceptable.
We were asked if we supported a right for development of commercial sites including the
demolition and re-build as dwellings and if so, what conditions should be attached to the prior
notification application.
Officers did not agree with this approach principally due to the significant loss of employment
land that this might allow. Whilst we did not agree in principle with this approach, officers did
consider that the existing use, its scale and local policy guidance should all be considered at
prior notification stage.
Part 2 - Disposal of Local Authority Land
We are asked if we think that the threshold for the existing general consent for the disposal of
land held for purposes other than planning or housing at undervalue should:
a. remain at the current level
b. be increased
c. be removed completely
We considered that an increased threshold would reflect increased land values and allow local
authorities more flexibility.
We were further asked If we consider it should be increased, did we think the new threshold

Page 39

should be:
a. £5 million or less
b. £10 million or less
c. other threshold (please state level)
We considered that £5 million should be sufficient to reflect increased land values and allow
local authorities more flexibility.
We were asked if we agreed that the Secretary of State should issue a new general consent for
the disposal of land held for planning purposes?
We had no comment on this.
We were asked if we thought that any new general consent should apply to:
a. disposals at an undervalue of £2 million or less
b. disposals at an undervalue of £5 million or less
c. disposals at an undervalue of £10 million or less
d. disposals at some other undervalue threshold? (please state level)
e. all disposals regardless of the undervalue?
We considered that the above would reflect increased land values and allow local authorities
more flexibility.
The Government asked if we agreed that the economic, social or environmental well-being
criteria which apply to the existing general consent should also apply to any new general
consent for the disposal of land held for planning purposes?
We agreed that it is.
Part 3: Canal and River Trust: Draft Listed Building Consent Order
No Comment
Part 4: New Town Development Corporations: Draft Compulsory Purchase Guidance
Please see separate joint response from the North Essex Authorities at Appendix B of this report

Page 40

APPENDICES
Appendix A – The Council’s consultation response in full
Appendix B - Joint North Essex Authority Response to Consultation Question 4 on New
Town Development Corporations, Draft Compulsory Purchase Guidance
Appendix C - Planning Reform: Supporting the High Street and Increasing the Delivery of
New Homes

Page 41

Appendix A

Introduction
In recent years and in the last ten years specifically, town centres have seen a decline in prosperity
and draw for the public throughout the UK. Drivers for this principally revolve around the
emergence of internet shopping and the economic down turn. Locally, in recent months our District
has seen this decline first hand. With the closure of major retailers in the District’s biggest town and
issues around antisocial behaviour, Tendring is well placed to comment on the proposed town
centre changes detailed in this consultation. This Council has already set up a Working Party to
look at the issues facing Clacton Town Centre and the relaxation of planning rules to enable a
more flexible range of uses, enabling town centres to change from purely shopping destinations to
offer a more of a rounded experience.
Question 1.1: Do you agree that there should be a new permitted development right to allow
shops (A1) financial and professional services (A2), hot food takeaways (A5), betting shops, pay
day loan shop and launderettes to change to office use (B1)? Please give your reasons.
TDC Response: What is being proposed here is a generalised relaxation of the Permitted
Development (PD) rights in town centres in order to allow more flexibility in these areas.
This council does not agree in principle. We do not want to promote ‘dead frontages’ - where there
is no ground floor activity - in main town/village centres. This Council would however support the
continued and proposed changes of use to A1/A3/A4 and D uses within the town centre. It is
further considered that there is a need to retain ‘active experience frontages’. Furthermore, there is
no particular evidence that this Council is restricting town centre proposals that would benefit the
offer in town. Nationally the uncontrolled spread of betting shops into High Streets was seen as
less than helpful to the character of some places.
Question 1.2: Do you agree that there should be a new permitted development right to allow hot
food takeaways (A5) to change to residential use (C3)? Please give your reasons.
TDC Response: It is considered that this appears logical. It is however also considered that these
new dwellings should be suitably located to avoid a clash of uses where a new dwelling may be set
amidst business uses.
Question 1.3: Are there any specific matters that should be considered for prior approval to
change to office use?
TDC Response: It is considered that parking should be included. It is worth noting that shop front
changes and adverts already need consent from Local Planning Authorities..
Question 1.4: Do you agree that the permitted development right for the temporary change of use
of the premises listed in paragraph 1.9 should allow change to a public library, exhibition hall,
museum, clinic or health centre?
TDC Response: Paragraph 1.9 states:
We are also interested in views on greater flexibility for temporary and community uses on the high
street. We are proposing to extend the existing permitted development right for the temporary

Page 42

change of use from shops (A1) financial and professional services (A2), restaurants and cafes
(A3), hot food takeaways (A5), offices (B1), non-residential institutions (D1), assembly and leisure
uses (D2), betting shops and pay day loan shops to change to shops (A1) financial and
professional services (A2), restaurants and cafes (A3) or offices (B1). The current right allows
premises to change use for up to 2 years, enabling new business start-ups to test the market and
help ensure premises are not left empty. To further support flexibility, we propose that these
premises should also be allowed to change to certain community uses: public library, exhibition
hall, museum, clinic or health centre. In addition, to allow sufficient time to establish a business we
propose to extend the period of the temporary use from 2 years to 3 years.
Whilst we do agree with the proposed uses listed in paragraph 1.9, we consider that this could go
further. We consider that there shouldn’t be temporary uses at all. Town centres need to be flexible
and not constrained by short term use changes. It is also considered that temporary uses do not
ensure sufficient certainty and can be complicated to monitor from a planning standpoint.
Question 1.5: Are there other community uses to which temporary change of use should be
allowed?
TDC Response: With our comments to Question 1.4 in mind above, we consider that
nurseries/child care, escape rooms, indoor sports uses (such as court games) and other ‘D’ uses
have the potential to gain a temporary use..
Question 1.6: Do you agree that the temporary change of use should be extended from 2 years to
3 years?
TDC Response: With our comments to Question 1.4 in mind above, we consider that whilst the
change from 2 to 3 years could be beneficial in bringing certainty to landowners, businesses and
developers, temporary change of use permissions should be abandoned for the reasons given at
Question 4.
Question 1.7: Would changes to certain of the A use classes be helpful in supporting high streets?
TDC Response: Whilst in principle we agree with this statement, we do consider that A5 uses may
be unacceptable due to their potential impact on residential amenity. A uses mixing A1, A2 and A3
would appear to be appropriate however.
Question 1.8: If so, which would be the most suitable approach:
a. that the A1 use class should be simplified to ensure it captures current and future retail models;
or,
b. that the A1, A2 and A3 use classes should be merged to create a single use class?
Please give your reasons.
TDC Response: It is considered that option B is more suitable as this allows greater flexibility.
Question 1.9: Do you think there is a role for a permitted development right to provide additional
self-contained homes by extending certain premises upwards?

Page 43

TDC Response: Whilst there is some possibility here, the site in question would have to not be
within a conservation areas, be a (or within the curtilage od a) listed building or scheduled
monument. Careful consideration would also need to be given to the height of adjacent buildings.
Question 1.10: Do you think there is a role for local design codes to improve outcomes from the
application of the proposed right?
TDC Response: The publication of design codes appears to be an appropriate response. These
however should be area codes rather than district wide. Consideration will need to be given to who
will produce these codes.
Question 1.11: Which is the more suitable approach to a new permitted development right:
a. that it allows premises to extend up to the roofline of the highest building in a terrace; or
b. that it allows building up to the prevailing roof height in the locality?
TDC Response: It is considered that option B is too vague. Option A allows greater control and the
potential for less impact.
Question 1.12: Do you agree that there should be an overall limit of no more than 5 storeys above
ground level once extended?
TDC Response: Agree – not necessary as agree to restrict to overall height of terrace.
Question 1.13: How do you think a permitted development right should address the impact where
the ground is not level?
TDC Response: If this is to be the approach taken, then measurements should be taken from the
highest point of ground level.
Question 1.14: Do you agree that, separately, there should be a right for additional storeys on
purpose built free standing blocks of flats? If so, how many storeys should be allowed?
TDC Response: No additional right is recommended. It is important to retain control.
Question 1.15: Do you agree that the premises in paragraph 1.21 would be suitable to include in a
permitted development right to extend upwards to create additional new homes?
TDC Response: Paragraph 1.21 states:
We propose that upward extensions should be permitted on premises in a range of uses that are
compatible with C3 residential use. These could include existing C3 residential premises, those A
class and sui generis high street uses that can already change use to housing under a permitted
development right (shops (A1), financial and professional services (A2), restaurants and cafes
(A3), betting shops, pay day loan shops and launderettes), offices (B1 (a)), and buildings in mixed
use within these uses.

Page 44

C3 uses may be acceptable. However, no building should be higher than existing terraces. Noise
sensitive uses should also be given careful consideration.
Question 1.16: Are there other types of premises, such as those in paragraph 1.22 that would be
suitable to include in a permitted development right to extend upwards to create additional new
homes?
TDC Response: Paragraph 1.22 states:
We want to explore whether there may also be other buildings whose use is compatible with the
introduction of new homes. Given they are usually located in residential areas or high streets,
would premises such as health centres and buildings used for community and leisure purposes be
suitable for inclusion in the permitted development right? Out of town retail parks with a mix of
shopping and leisure uses may also be suitable for upward extensions to provide additional homes.
Additional housing could be appropriate on top of other uses, but as noted above, the existing
system is considered adequate to assess the merits of each proposal.
Question 1.17: Do you agree that a permitted development right should allow the local authority to
consider the extent of the works proposed?
TDC Response: Yes, if the system is implemented. It is noted, however, that prior approval
applications require significant amounts of staff time without providing either sufficient fee income
or the ability of the Council to impose conditions and obligations. The change would accordingly
represent a retrograde step.
Question 1.18: Do you agree that in managing the impact of the proposal, the matters set out in
paragraphs 1.25 -1.27 should be considered in a prior approval?
TDC Response: Paragraphs 1.25 – 1.27 state:
Prior approval allows for the consideration by the local planning authority of the impacts of the
permitted development right at the local level and can cover a range of matters that need further
assessment and mitigation. We propose applying those prior approvals that have already proved
beneficial in permitted development rights for change to residential use. These would include
matters such as flooding and contamination risks, transport and highways and the impact of
additional new homes on existing occupiers and businesses, especially those that create noise and
odours which may be a statutory nuisance. Prior approval would apply the “agent of change”
principle, set out in paragraph 182 of the National Planning Policy Framework, to ensure the
introduction of housing could be integrated effectively with existing business and community uses,
and to consider mitigation measures for the potential impacts on new residents and existing
businesses. The prior approval would also assess the impacts of any works external to the building
and within the curtilage, including fire escapes.
Prior approval would consider the design, siting and appearance of the upward extension and its
impact on the amenity and character of the area, taking account of the form of neighbouring
properties. This may include considering whether the proposed development is of good design,

Page 45

adds to the overall quality of the area over its lifetime, is visually attractive as a result of good
architecture, responds to the local character and history of the area and maintains a strong sense
of place, as set out in paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework. We expect prior
approval on design to be granted where the design is in keeping with the existing design of the
building.
Prior approval would also consider the impact of the development on the amenity of neighbouring
premises, for example, from obscuring existing windows, reducing access to light or resulting in
unacceptable impact on neighbours’ privacy from overlooking. It would also consider measures to
mitigate these impacts, and enable the neighbours, including owners and occupiers of premises
impacted, to comment on the proposal.
Yes, if the system is implemented. It is noted, however, that prior approval applications require
significant amounts of staff time without providing either sufficient fee income or the ability of the
Council to impose conditions and obligations. The change would accordingly represent a
retrograde step.
Question 1.19: Are there any other planning matters that should be considered?
TDC Response: No. The planning application already allows all material considerations to be
taken into account.
Question 1.20: Should a permitted development right also allow for the upward extension of a
dwelling for the enlargement of an existing home? If so, what considerations should apply?
TDC Response: No, the architectural integrity of the built environment and amenity of adjacent
residents would be compromised.
Question 1.21: Do you agree that the permitted development right for public call boxes (telephone
kiosks) should be removed?
TDC Response: Yes agreed
Question 1.22: Do you agree that deemed consent which allows an advertisement to be placed on
a single side of a telephone kiosk should be removed?
TDC Response: Yes agreed
Question 23: Do you agree the proposed increased height limit for an electric vehicle charging
point upstand in an off-street parking space that is not within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse?
TDC Response: Given the Government’s commitment to increase the usage of zero emission
vehicles and to cut fuel costs, they want all cars and vans to be zero emission by 2050. Existing
PD rights allow the installation of an upstand to recharge electric vehicles up to 1.6m in height in an
area legally used for off-street parking. However, recent improvements to technology could require
a larger unit than is currently allowed under PD.

Page 46

The plans put forward are therefore to increase the PD height limit to no greater than 2.3 metres.
To protect neighbouring amenities and an areas character, it is not proposed to increase this height
within the curtilage of a dwelling house.
Whilst the Council has not received a considerable amount of planning applications for the
installation of electric charging points, it is considered that these kinds of application will only
increase in time.
Given that the changes proposed do not include charging points within the curtilage of a dwelling
house, it seems unlikely that the proposed increase in height, which itself is minimal, would result
in any significant harm to neighbouring properties. The charging points themselves are not visually
attractive but can be relatively low-key additions. Therefore, it is considered that no major concerns
would be raised from this Council.
Question 24: Do you agree that the existing time-limited permitted development right for change of
use from storage or distribution to residential is made permanent?
TDC Response: In 2015 the change of use from storage and distribution to residential was
introduced for three years – this was then extended by a further year in April 2018. PD rights
currently allows up to 500sqm of floor space in use as storage and distribution in March 2014,
which had been that use for four years, to change to residential. Under the prior approval
approach, we are still able to assess transport and highways, contamination, air quality, noise of
the development, and flooding.
Given the need for more housing nationally, this method is considered to play a role in supporting
housing delivery and making effective use of buildings, and it is therefore proposed to make this
prior approval permanent.
Given that there will be no changes to the existing conditions, and that there are a number of
factors that still need to be overcome for this change of use to be permitted, The Council do not
feel this being made permanent will have a damaging effect, whilst it will also help TDC in
maintaining its housing delivery.
Question 25: Do you agree that the time-limited permitted development right for larger extensions
to dwelling houses is made permanent?
TDC Response: No comments
Question 26: Do you agree that a fee should be charged for a prior approval application for a
larger extension to a dwelling house?
TDC Response: In 2013, it was introduced that a single storey rear extension up to 8m in length for
detached properties and up to 6m length for semi-detached/terraced properties was permitted
development subject to consultation with neighbours on amenity. This has proved popular, with
22,400 in 2017/18 alone. It is therefore proposed to make this permanent. However, currently there
is no fee attached to this despite local authorities having to consult and determine the applications.

Page 47

It is therefore proposed a fee of £96 is introduced, which is in line with other prior approval
application fees.
Given how popular this type of application has proved to be, it seems sensible to make this
permanent. However, consideration may also be given to making this fully permitted development.
That being said, whilst TDC generally receive very few neighbour responses a potential 8m deep
extension could be too large to be acceptable without any consideration by the local authority on
neighbouring amenities.
It would appear that there is potentially a great deal of work involved with these types of
applications at validation stage. Therefore, that the applicant currently does not pay a fee is
inconsistent. However, given that once the application moves on to the Case Officer there is
generally less work involved than a standard planning application for an extension, a fee
approximately half of a full application seems appropriate. Therefore £96, or possibly slightly more,
is acceptable.
Question 27: Do you support a permitted development right for the high quality redevelopment of
commercial sites, including demolition and replacement build as residential, which retained the
existing developer contributions?
TDC Response: The Council does not support a permitted development right for the
redevelopment of existing commercial sites as residential, and consider that the existing
requirement for a planning application is appropriate for this category of development given the
potential significant impacts, including the loss of a potential job creation opportunity, arising from
the change of use and new built form. Many of the recent new industrial units have been built in
older commercial estates where residential land values have not been obtainable. If this becomes
an option for land owners it is difficult to see where traditional business units will be built.
Question 28: What considerations would be important in framing any future right for the demolition
of commercial buildings and their redevelopment as residential to ensure that it brings the most
sites forward for redevelopment?
TDC Response: Currently there are permitted development rights to convert commercial units into
residential; however these rights only allow for the reuse of existing buildings. There is an
argument that the full potential of a building or site is therefore not realised, where the applicant
may be encouraged to change use rather than redevelop the site. It is therefore suggested that
permitted development rights are extended to allow for the demolition and replacement of these
properties.
At this stage, the scope of properties that could fall under these new rights is under review – it
could focus purely on smaller sites, those redeveloped sites of a particular size or density, the sites
existing use. Given that these works could be completed as permitted development, there is also
the question of how developer contributions are acquired.
Whilst the idea to fulfil the potential of buildings is sound in theory, It is considered that the first
point to make is with regard to ‘high quality’ development. This can be very subjective and could be
difficult to secure through permitted development. We also have concerns that in reality the design
would either not be in-keeping with the surrounding area or would be of a poor design. A form of

Page 48

design guide could be introduced, but what would be acceptable will vary in different locations
across the Country.
If it were to be introduced it is considered that there needs to be restrictions with regards to the size
of the building being converted and its existing use. The authority’s local plan should also be given
weight to ensure this form of development is not possible within areas such as primary shopping
frontages, conservation areas and listed buildings.
Question 29: Do you have any comments on the impact of any of the measures?
i. Allow greater change of use to support high streets to adapt and diversify;
ii. Introducing a new right to extend existing buildings upwards to create additional new homes;
iii. Removing permitted development rights and advertisement consent in respect of public call
boxes (telephone kiosks);
iv. Increasing the height limits for electric vehicle charging points in off-street parking spaces;
v. Making permanent the right for the change of use from storage to residential;
vi. Making permanent the right for larger extensions to dwelling houses.
TDC Response: No comments
Question 30: Do you have any views about the implications of our proposed changes on people
with protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 2010? What evidence do you have on
these matters? Is there anything that could be done to mitigate any impact identified?
TDC Response: No comments to add.
Part 2 - Disposal of Local Authority Land
Question 2.1: Do you think that the threshold for the existing general consent for the disposal of
land held for purposes other than planning or housing at undervalue (under section 123 of
the Local Government Act 1972) should:
a. remain at the current level?
b. be increased?
c. be removed completely?
Please give your reasons.
TDC Response: An increased threshold would reflect increased land values and allow local
authorities more flexibility.
Question 2.2: If you consider it should be increased, do you think the new threshold should be:
a. £5 million or less?
b. £10 million or less?
c. other threshold? (please state level)

Page 49

Please give your reasons.
TDC Response: £5 million should be sufficient to reflect increased land values and allow local
authorities more flexibility.
Question 2.3: Do you agree that the Secretary of State should issue a new general consent under
section 233 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 for the disposal of land held for
planning purposes?
Please give your reasons.
TDC Response: No comment.

Question 2.4: If yes, do you think any new general consent should apply to:
a. disposals at an undervalue of £2 million or less?
b. disposals at an undervalue of £5 million or less?
c. disposals at an undervalue of £10 million or less?
d. disposals at some other undervalue threshold? (please state level)
e. all disposals regardless of the undervalue?
Please give your reasons.
TDC Response: To reflect increased land values and allow local authorities more flexibility
Question 2.5: Do you agree that the economic, social or environmental well-being criteria which
apply to the existing general consent should also apply to any new general consent for the
disposal of land held for planning purposes?
TDC Response: Yes
Part 3: Canal and River Trust: Draft Listed Building Consent Order
No Comment

Part 4: New Town Development Corporations: Draft Compulsory Purchase Guidance
Question 4.1: Do you have any comments on the draft guidance at Annex D?
TDC Response: Please see separate joint response from the North Essex Authorities
Question 4.2: Do you have any views about the implications of the proposed guidance on people
with protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 2010? What evidence do you

Page 50

have on these matters? Is there anything that could be done to mitigate any impact
identified?
No comment

Page 51

Appendix B
Joint North Essex Authority Response to Consultation Question 4 on New Town Development
Corporations, Draft Compulsory Purchase Guidance
1. This consultation response is sent on behalf of Braintree District Council, Colchester Borough Council,
[Essex County Council] and Tendering District Council (the NEAs). It responds to Part 4 of the Planning
Reform Consultation paper. [Each of the authorities has responded separately in relation to other
elements of the Planning Reform Consultation].
2. The NEAs are planning to deliver three new garden communities in North Essex. If their Local Plans are
found to be sound, it is anticipated that an application for the designation of a locally led new town, and
the incorporation of a locally led development corporation, will be made later this year.
3. The NEA therefore welcome the draft Compulsory Purchase Guidance for New Town Development
Corporations. In particular the NEAs welcome the clear summary in paragraph 4.7 of the consultation
paper that development corporations will, if they provide the appropriate evidence, be able to acquire
land
a. early in the new town development process;
b. for which there are no proposals; and
c. in advance of detailed proposals being developed.
4. Being able to acquire land in this way will help secure the delivery of genuine garden communities.
5. The confirmation of MHCLG's understanding of the CPO compensation regime in paragraph 4.9 is
similarly welcomed. The entirety of a new town should be treated as the "scheme" for compensation
purposes, and the effects of early phase investment and development should not influence the value of
land acquired later.
6. Against this background the NEAs have limited comments on the draft Annex to the CPO Compensation
Guidance.
a. Paragraph 8 of the draft Annex considers the factors the Secretary of State will take into account
when deciding whether to confirm a Compulsory Purchase Order. It would be helpful if the list
included, specifically, consideration of the consequences for the development corporation if a
requested CPO is not confirmed. This should include the practical consequences in terms of
delivery and legacy, and the extent to which "opt out areas" would influence that.
b. Paragraph 9 sets out the factors the Secretary of State will consider whether when reviewing
proposals for the use of land, or the delivery of development. that compete with those proposed
by the development corporation. It would be helpful if the factors could include:
i. the track record of those promoting alternative proposals. The ability of a
promoter to deliver a new town, or a component of it, should be a consideration. This is a
factor considered elsewhere (see paragraph 124(a) of the existing CPO guidance in
relation to Homes England);
ii. given the importance of stewardship to locally led new town development
corporations, the considerations should include an analysis of the effect of the alternative
proposals on the oversight authority and development corporation's ability to meet their
statutory obligations;
iii. generally the effect on the ability of the oversight authority to fulfil its
obligations. At the moment the draft Annex concentrates on the development
corporation. There is also a need to take account of the responsibilities of the oversight
authority.

Page 52

c. In relation to Urban Development Corporations paragraph 131 of the existing CPO Guidance
considers the implications where a UDC generates receipts in excess of the total of the cost of
assembled land. It would be helpful to include a similar paragraph in relation to development
corporations, noting that this is likely to be the case (over the longer term) and reflects the need
to deliver high quality infrastructure, good design and stewardship obligations. It also reflects the
Governments aspirations for "value capture" in appropriate circumstances.
d. In relation to other Compulsory Purchase Orders the existing CPO guidance includes, in some
circumstances, a requirement to consider the viability of, and funding for, the proposals
underlying the CPO. Viability and funding will have been considered in detail as part of the
designation of the new town, and the incorporation of the development corporation (see
paragraph 3.2B of the June 2018 Guidance). It would be helpful if the draft Annex could make it
clear that the viability of the new town proposal, as a whole, will not normally be considered
unless circumstances have changed materially since the date of designation.
Appendix C

Planning Reform: Supporting the High Street and Increasing the Delivery of New Homes

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

